Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Council
Wednesday, 13th October, 2021 at 6.00 pm
Park Suite, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

To: All Members of the Council
(Please note that prayers will be taken by The Reverend Michael Hogg, Brighton Road Baptist
Church, Horsham, before the meeting commences)

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business

Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON COUNCIL PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on
1 September 2021
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members

4.

Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Council, the Leader,
Members of the Cabinet or the Chief Executive

5.

Questions from the Public
To receive questions from the public under Rules 4a.2(f) and 4a.8-18

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

5 - 12

6.

Recommendations from Cabinet (1)

13 - 30

To receive the recommendations from the meetings of Cabinet held on 23
September and 7 October and, if approved, to adopt the recommendations
therein:
Horsham District Council Housing and Homeless Strategy 2021 –
2026 (report of the Cabinet Member for Housing & Public Protection
online at: Agenda Item 6 )
Local Enforcement Plan and CIL Enforcement Policy (report of the
Cabinet Member for Planning & Development online at: Agenda Item 8 )
Drill Hall (report of the Cabinet Member for Leisure & Culture online at:
Agenda Item 5 )
7.

Reports of representatives
To receive reports from representatives on outside bodies

8.

To note in-year changes to memberships of Committees / Policy
Development Advisory Groups
Governance Committee: Louise Potter in place of Frances Haigh
Environment, Waste, Recycling & Cleansing PDAG: John Milne in place of
Louise Potter

9.

Notice of Motion

31 - 32

To consider three Notices of Motion, submitted in accordance with Rule 4a.26
of the Council’s Constitution by:
(a)
(b)
(c)
10.

Liz Kitchen
Mike Croker
Louise Potter

Members' Questions on Notice
To receive questions from Members under Rules 4a.20(b)-25

11.

Urgent Business
To consider matters certified by the Chairman as urgent

a)

Recommendation from Cabinet (2)
To receive the recommendation from the meeting of the Cabinet held on
7 October and, if approved, adopt the recommendations therein:
Budget for Consultancy Support for the Gatwick
Development Consent Order (report of the Chief Executive is
online at: Agenda item 6 )

33 - 34

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON COUNCIL PROCEDURE
Addressing the
Council

(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Members must address the meeting through the Chairman. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop. The Chairman will decide whether he or she prefers
Members to stand or sit when addressing the Council.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the whole number of Members. If there is not a
quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman. If
a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be considered at the next
ordinary meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions

Questions from the
public
(Notice must have
been given in writing
to the Chief Executive
by 12.00 three working
days before the
meeting)

Directed to Leader, Cabinet Member or Chairman of an ordinary
committee and relevant to the business of the meeting. 2 minutes in
total to put the question. Appropriate Member to reply. Questioner may
ask one supplementary question. Member to reply (max 2 minutes
unless Chairman consents to a longer period).
Overall time limit for questions of 15 minutes or six questions, whichever
is greater. The questioner must be present.
If a question cannot be dealt with at the meeting (lack of time or
absence of relevant Member), a written reply to be given.
No discussion but any Member may move that a matter raised by a
question is referred to Cabinet or committee. If seconded, no
discussion – vote taken.

Cabinet
recommendations
(see also rules of
debate)

Leader/Cabinet Member presents and moves recommendation(s) –
seconder required. Members may:
- ask a question on the item under consideration – max 2 minutes;
and/or
- make a statement – max 5 minutes.

Questions from
Members on Notice
(Notice must have
been given in writing
to the Chief Executive
by 12.00 two working
days before the
meeting)

These are directed to the Chairman, Leader, Cabinet Member or
chairman of any committee:
- 2 minutes maximum for initial question
- 2 minutes maximum for the response
- 2 minutes maximum for a supplementary question
- 2 minutes maximum for a response to the supplementary question
- 5 minutes maximum for the questioner to make a final statement in
response, if they wish
- If an oral reply is not convenient (e.g. too lengthy) a written answer
may be circulated later.
No discussion. Maximum of 30 minutes overall for questions and
answers.

Page 3

Rules of debate

The Chairman controls debate and normally follows these rules but
Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the question under discussion or a personal
explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of motion at end of
debate on original motion and any amendments (may not
otherwise speak on amendment). Mover of amendment
has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
- Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert or add others (as long as this
does not negate the motion)
- One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
- Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
- A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
- A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
- The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Page 4

Agenda Item 2
Council
1 SEPTEMBER 2021

Present:

Councillors: David Skipp (Chairman), Kate Rowbottom (ViceChairman), Matthew Allen, Tony Bevis, John Blackall, Martin Boffey,
Chris Brown, Karen Burgess, Peter Burgess, Jonathan Chowen,
Philip Circus, Paul Clarke (Leader), Roy Cornell, Michael Croker,
Brian Donnelly, Ruth Fletcher, Billy Greening, Tony Hogben (Deputy
Leader), Nigel Jupp, Liz Kitchen, Lynn Lambert, Richard Landeryou,
Gordon Lindsay, Tim Lloyd, John Milne, Christian Mitchell, Roger Noel,
Bob Platt, Louise Potter, Josh Potts, Stuart Ritchie, Jack Saheid,
Claire Vickers, Tricia Youtan and James Wright

Apologies:

Councillors: Andrew Baldwin, Toni Bradnum, Alan Britten,
Christine Costin, Ray Dawe, Frances Haigh, Colin Minto, Mike Morgan,
Jim Sanson, Ian Stannard, Diana van der Klugt and Belinda Walters

CO/27

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 23 June were approved as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

CO/28

DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
Item 10: Notice of Motion – Councillor Nigel Jupp declared a personal interest
because he is a County Councillor.

CO/29

ANNOUNCEMENTS
Councillor Claire Vickers, Cabinet Member for Community & Wellbeing, announced
that a number of residents were finding it difficult to get a GP appointment and she
would look into what could be done to ensure older and vulnerable residents were able
to visit their surgeries. The Chairman stated that he was aware of this issue and
supported the Cabinet Member in taking this forward.
Councillor Chris Brown, Cabinet Member for the Local Economy, made the following
announcements:


The Y-Wish Youth Employment Hub, located in Swan Walk, had fully opened
after lockdown restrictions. The Cabinet Member had recently spoken on Radio
Sussex about this valuable resource for helping 18 – 24 year olds get back into
employment.



The Cabinet Member urged Councillors to tell retailers in their wards about the
West Sussex Retail Hub. This was an on-line resource supporting retailers
across West Sussex, offering training and advice with a focus on getting people
back into the high streets.

1

Page 5

Council
1 September 2021


This year’s Jobs Fair was taking place in the Drill Hall on 2 October. Over 20
employers had signed up already.



The current round of the Council’s LEAP grants had just opened for
applications. These grants were for small to medium enterprises in the district
and an important resource to help recovery.



So far 12 Shop Improvement Grants had been approved. There was still
approximately £50,000 worth of grants available and the Cabinet Member
encouraged independent retailers in the district to apply.

Councillor Roger Noel, Cabinet Member for Leisure & Culture, made the following
announcements:


The Wider Horsham District board had signed off the completed Nature
Recovery Network. This was a major milestone for recovering the natural
environment and would give residents the opportunity to be part of our move
towards a low carbon future. He thanked the officers who had worked so hard
to complete the NRN, and also thanked Councillor Jonathan Chowen, the
previous Cabinet Member who had been instrumental in setting up the Wilder
Horsham District project.



Jeremy Knight, Horsham Museum’s curator for 32 years, had announced his
retirement. The Cabinet Member thanked him for his commitment and
expertise over the years and for the quality of the exhibitions he had curated.
While the museum was closed during the pandemic its collections had been
completely reorganised. There would be a special evening event on 1 October
for staff, volunteers and friends of the museum ahead of its opening to the
public on 2 October. The Chairman of the Council endorsed the Cabinet
Member’s sentiments regarding Jeremy’s contribution and legacy.

Councillor Philip Circus, Cabinet Member for Environment, Waste, Recycling &
Cleansing, made the following announcements:


He had visited the Depot with the Chief Executive and Director of Community
Services to thank staff for their hard work in running the services within his
portfolio. Their loyalty had helped run a comprehensive service throughout the
challenges brought by the pandemic.



Food waste collections were going to be trialled shortly, beginning with a
number of properties in Billingshurst in September. The Cabinet Member
advised that this would also potentially include changes to the current routine of
waste collections.

Councillor Louise Potter, Leader of the Liberal Democrats, formally thanked Godfrey
Newman, who had resigned as a District Councillor last month because of ill health, for
his many years of service, including his commitment to residents of Forest ward. She
spoke of his warmth, pragmatism and sense of humour.
Councillor Peter Burgess, the Council’s Armed Forces representative, made the
following announcements:

Page
2 6

Council
1 September 2021

CO/30

3



On 15 September the Council would organise a celebration of the Battle of
Britain. It would be a low-key occasion of about half an hour at the War
Memorial.



Remembrance Day on Sunday 14 November would be organised by the
Royal British Legion and the Council. He hoped that this year it would be
possible to hold a parade.

QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
No questions relevant to the business of the meeting had been received.

CO/31

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CABINET
Item withdrawn from the agenda.

CO/32

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES
Councillor John Blackall, Vice-Chairman of the Licensing Committee, advised
that the Council’s Taxi and Private Hire Policy had been revised to reflect
changes in the Department for Transport’s Taxi and Private Hire Standards.
These changes were aimed mainly at safeguarding children and vulnerable
adults.
Councillor Blackall confirmed that at the Committee meeting in June officers
had answered queries regarding the new legislation and resulting changes to
the Council’s procedures to the Committee’s satisfaction. Public consultation
on the revised policy had taken place and no representations had been
received.
The recommendation to approve the adoption of the statutory Taxi & Private
Hire Standards and Conditions was seconded by Councillor Gordon Lindsay.
RESOLVED

That the statutory Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy and
Guidance (including standards and conditions), as set out in Appendix A to
the Licensing Committee report, be adopted.
REASON
i) To protect the public.
ii) To ensure transparency and openness in decision-making.

Page3 7

Council
1 September 2021

CO/33

GRANT DECISIONS ARISING FROM THE COVID-19 EMERGENCY
The Chief Executive reminded Members that he had been granted the authority to use
emergency powers to take decisions quickly to ensure that government funding made
available to counter the impact of the pandemic could be spent in a timely manner.
By allocating Additional Restrictions Grant funding without waiting for the cycle of
meetings that would allow for Cabinet and Council endorsement, the Council had been
able to secure a further £1.29m tranche of funding to help the district’s businesses
recover.
The Chief Executive gave details of funding that had been allocated to projects
supporting the mental health and wellbeing of younger people; by using the emergency
powers this support had been available during the summer holidays. The Cabinet
Member for Community & Wellbeing thanked officers for providing these extra services
to young people when most needed.
The Chief Executive confirmed that he used the emergency powers sparingly and had
consulted with Cabinet Members and the Leader before taking these decisions.
RESOLVED
i)

That the amendments to the Additional Restrictions Discretionary Grant
scheme and the spend without budget on mental health services made by
the Chief Executive under his Head of Paid Service powers outlined in
section 3 be noted.

ii)

To delegate to the Chief Executive the approval of any further amendments
to the Additional Restrictions Grant scheme, subject to reporting these back
to the following Council meeting.

iii)

To approve the addition of £120,000 of grant to the Council’s community
development budget.

REASON
i)

The use of Additional Restrictions Grant met the Government’s request to
help businesses eligible for Restart Grants in July. Using the remainder of
the Council’s allocation of Additional Restrictions Grant in this way meant the
Council was able to obtain an extra £1,289,093 grant to further help
Horsham District’s businesses in the autumn and winter. Allowing the Chief
Executive to make changes to the Additional Restrictions Grant policies will
allow him to quickly allocate money to businesses. The Director of
Corporate Resources already has a delegation for setting up projects and
their budgets in consultation with a group of Cabinet members and the
Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny.

ii)

The decision to spend the youth mental health grant immediately allowed
critical work for the wellbeing of Horsham District’s young people to begin
during the school holiday period.

Page
4 8

Council
1 September 2021

CO/34

5

REPORTS OF REPRESENTATIVES
Councillor Liz Kitchen, the Council’s representative on GatCom reported that the CAA
(Civil Aviation Authority) were carrying out two consultations, one regarding night
flights.
The second consultation was on the proposal to bring a second runway into regular
use. The impact of a second runway on the district would be profound and Councillor
Kitchen stated that she would bring a Notice of Motion to the next Council meeting so
that a consultation response agreed by the whole Council could be submitted.

The Chairman of the Council thanked Councillor Kitchen for her involvement
with GatCom. He encouraged other Councillors who were representatives on
outside bodies to bring reports to future Council meetings.
CO/35

NOTICE OF MOTION
The following Motion was moved by Councillor Billy Greening and seconded by
Councillor Peter Burgess:

‘‘Council notes the humanitarian disaster resulting from the fall of Afghanistan
and Kabul to the Taliban.
Council further notes the efforts to evacuate many Afghan nationals, including
those who have worked with the UK military and diplomatic presence in
Afghanistan, to the UK.
Council resolves to support efforts to resettle those refugees, working with the
Home Office, charities and other agencies, and to help accommodate a fair and
reasonable number locally alongside/as are many other local authorities, with
appropriate Government funding and support.’
Members debated the proposal. The Cabinet Member for Housing & Public Protection
confirmed that the Council was committed to doing what it can to house those allocated
to the area and support them in finding a better life. She was working with West
Sussex County Council, who had overall responsibility in facilitating the government’s
resettling scheme. Councillor Nigel Jupp confirmed that WSCC was playing a full part
and was liaising with all district councils in West Sussex.
On being put, the motion was unanimously declared CARRIED.

CO/36

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS ON NOTICE
Three Questions on Notice had been received.

1. Councillor Mike Croker asked Councillor Lynn Lambert, Cabinet Member for Planning
& Development, the following question:

‘I note from Appendix 3 of the ‘Local Plan Evidence Base Summary' of the
proposed Regulation 19 Horsham District Local Plan that was presented to

Page5 9

Council
1 September 2021

Cabinet at Agenda Item 6 on 15 July that a Sustainable Design and
Construction Supplementary Planning Document was apparently in preparation
by somebody known as 'CSE'. I also note in paragraph 9.7 of the draft plan that
'A Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document, to support Policies 36,
37 and 38 will provide further guidance on these matters'.
Please can the Cabinet Member for Planning & Development say when the
drafts of these documents will be available for members' and/or public scrutiny?’
The Cabinet Member replied:

‘As you note, it is the Council’s intention to produce a Supplementary Planning
Document on Climate change matters in order to support the Local Plan once it
is adopted. We have started work on this at an early stage so that we can hit
the ground running once we have a local plan in place.
The purpose of SPDS is to provide guidance on how to use or interpret
planning policies. They do not set policies themselves. Therefore we cannot
progress the SPD until we have a new Local Plan in place – until that time the
policy wording could change or there may be updates from government which
lead to policy changes.
I am very happy to ensure that Members are involved in this process. However,
this will need to follow the adoption of the plan which is programmed for 2023.’
In reply, Councillor Croker asked a supplementary question:
‘Will the Cabinet Member consider consulting Members about the SPD prior to 2023?’
The Cabinet Member replied:

‘As already outlined the policy framework can be changed by the inspector or
updated by government guidance during the Local Plan examination. This will
mean updates to the SPD would be needed as well – making comments at this
stage premature and possibly abortive.
In addition, the Local Plan staff are now fully committed on Local Plan review
work and we cannot resource additional work on other matters at this point in
time.’

2. Councillor John Milne asked Councillor Lynn Lambert, Cabinet Member for Planning &
Development, the following question:

‘It has been determined in 3 recent planning appeals that HDC can no longer
claim a 5-year-land-supply, with significant negative potential for the district.
HDC’s calculation in all 3 appeals counted 5 years forward from a base date of
1 April 2020, which was the most up to date figure available at the time.

Page 610

Council
1 September 2021

7

However, the housing delivery figures to 31 March 2021 should now be
finalised or about to be. According to planning guidelines, we can now
legitimately advance the calculation by one year and switch to a 1 April 2021
base date, as will also be used in the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) later this
year.
Can the Cabinet Member confirm that this approach will be adopted forthwith,
and that further planning applications can thereby continue to be determined on
the premise that HDC once again has a 5-year-land-supply?’
The Cabinet Member replied:

‘Following the 3 recent appeal decisions at New House Farm, Horsham;
Rascals Farm, Southwater and Sandy Lane, Henfield, it is confirmed that HDC
no longer has a 5 year supply. The conclusions of these inspectors differ
slightly but our current supply is between 4.2 and 4.4 years.
You are correct that our next Authority Monitoring Report (or AMR) will include
the housing completion figures for the period 1 April 2020 – 31 March 2021. In
addition, the base date for the new 2021 AMR will be rolled forward to 1 April
2021.
However, it does not follow that a 5-year supply figure is automatically reinstated once the base date moves and the new 5-year supply figure us
calculated.
As you may be aware, our housing completion figures are finalised by WSCC.
This work has not yet been completed. I am therefore not able to comment on
whether or not we will have a 5-year supply when the next AMR is published.’
Councillor Milne responded by saying there were three reasons to argue that
our 5-year supply would materially improve. Firstly, the 700 houses that the
inspectors had judged inadmissible were still part of our future supply and it was
reasonable to expect them to be included in the next 5-year supply. Secondly,
the impact of Covid in 2020/21 led to the delivery of approximately 250 fewer
houses than our annual requirement; 2020/21 will be replaced by 2025/26 in the
next calculation, which should have higher totals. Thirdly, the 100 houses
granted on appeal at Rascals Farm could now be added. Councillor Milne
concluded that, given the above, our apparent shortfall should become marginal
or disappear altogether. He urged the Council to take a robust approach and
continue to claim a 5-year-land-supply.
3. Councillor Bob Platt asked Councillor Lynn Lambert, Cabinet Member for Planning &
Development, the following question:

‘The Horsham District Draft Local Plan 2021-38 is currently under review to
meet the new requirements of the NPPF, including a Review of the
Sustainability Appraisal to take into account a 30-year vision. The Government
seems to have done HDC a favour by changing the NPPF to include a 30-year
vision for strategic sites, as it has, firstly, given us 4 to 5 months to think the

Page7 11

Council
1 September 2021

Plan through and secondly, reminded us that by 2050 the United Kingdom
should be carbon net zero. As there is no point in waiting until 2039, should not
the new draft Local Plan require all new builds to be carbon neutral in operation,
thereby not adding to the massive housing retrofit requirement that will be
needed in Horsham District?’
The Cabinet Member replied:

‘I agree that the issue of climate change is very important. Whilst it will
ultimately be a matter for the Council to agree the policies on this and other
topics, officers drafting the plan are already aware of the need to avoid adding
to the need to retrofit existing stock and are drafting policies to ensure that local
and national carbon net zero targets can be met. This includes a commitment to
ensuring that from 2025 (which, by the time the plan is adopted will be when
most of the new homes are built from), new build can meet net zero carbon in
their lifetime and thereby removing the need for costly retrofitting.
In addition, I can confirm that as part of the further work on the 30-year vision
for strategic sites, the longer term need to achieve carbon net zero in that
timescale is a key consideration.’
CO/37

URGENT BUSINESS
There was no urgent business.

The meeting closed at 7.25 pm having commenced at 6.00 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 812

Agenda Item 6
COUNCIL
13 October 2021
CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS
Recommendation to Council made at the Cabinet meeting held on 23 September 2021
Horsham District Council Housing and Homeless Strategy 2021 - 2026
The previous Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2013-15 had been adopted in 2013 and
reviewed in 2017. There have been significant changes in housing and homelessness
issues faced by the district’s residents since the previous strategy was adopted, and the
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic are still not fully known.
A new strategy is therefore required, and a multi-stage approach is proposed:


The first stage, over 18 months, will be an information-gathering period, where key
areas of the service are reviewed as well as some initial actions being taken.



The second stage will set out next steps, based on the findings of the first stage, to
address the overall objectives of the service. This will involve producing an interim
review in 2022.



The final stage will be will see the service carry out the work to deliver on these goals
in the remaining three years.

The report to Cabinet sets out details of this phased approach, including the actions and
reviews that will be undertaken. It will be a person-focused and data-led approach designed
to strengthen the Housing and Homelessness Service during these unprecedented times.
RESOLVED
i)

To approve the Council’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2021-2026.

ii)

To delegate authority to the Relevant Cabinet Member to monitor performance
against the Delivery Plan with periodic updates being presented to Cabinet
following the Strategy’s adoption.

iii)

To note that this Strategy is the first step in a multi-stage approach, as set out in
section 3 of this report.

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL
iv)

That the Council’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2021-2026 be adopted.

REASON
i)

To ensure the Council fulfils its statutory responsibility of having a current Housing
and Homelessness Strategy.

ii)

To give the Housing and Homelessness Service clear direction and objectives that
will guide decision-making, projects and priorities over the next five years.

Page 13

COUNCIL
13 October 2021
CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS
Recommendation to Council made at the Cabinet meeting held on 23 September 2021
Local Enforcement Plan and CIL Enforcement Policy
The proposed Local Enforcement Plan takes into account the review of the Council’s
Planning Compliance Service, which was undertaken in 2019, as well as current legislation.
The Plan sets out how the Council monitors the implementation of planning permissions,
investigates alleged cases of unauthorised development and takes action where appropriate.
At the Cabinet meeting, the following two amendments to the Local Enforcement Plan
relating to Paragraph 4: ‘What is not a Breach of Planning Control’, were proposed:


‘Boundary disputes’ should include advice on hedges and high hedge disputes, as
detailed in the 1997 Hedge Regulations, given the number of disputes that involve
hedges; and



Advice that deeds of covenants may restrict what can be done with a site should be
included.

The Cabinet Member agreed to look into making these amendments, and subsequently
these have been incorporated into the Local Enforcement Plan (revised Plan attached).
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge on development used to help fund
infrastructure needed to support development in the district. The Council’s CIL schedule
was adopted in October 2017, with charges calculated on a £ per square metre of
development basis. The CIL Enforcement Policy sets out how the Council will ensure the
collection of funds runs smoothly. It publicises the penalties for non-payment of CIL charges
so that it is clear to those liable to pay the levy what the likely consequences for nonpayment or late payment would be.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL
i)

That the Local Enforcement Plan be adopted.

ii)

That the CIL Enforcement Policy be adopted.

REASON
i)

Local Enforcement Plan
It is necessary to update the adopted March 2016 Local Enforcement Plan to take
account of current legislation and the review of the Planning Compliance service
which was undertaken by the Planning Advisory Service in 2019.

ii)

CIL Enforcement Policy
In order to publicise the penalties for non-payment of the CIL charges and to
ensure that the Council does not lose out financially by non-payment and having
to carry out additional tasks as a result of non-payment.

Page 14

COUNCIL
13 October 2021
CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS
Recommendation to Council made at the Cabinet meeting held 7 October 2021
Drill Hall
Cabinet had considered the future of the Drill Hall in January 2020 because the building was
under-utilised. Issues reviewed included a proposal for alternative use, the condition of the
building, its poor thermal performance and running costs. Cabinet decided to consider any
viable bids from organisations or community groups to run the building; should no suitable
bid come forward the property would be made available for affordable housing.
The Horsham Branch of the Royal British Legion put forward a proposal to create a home for
Horsham’s various military and service organisations. The proposal also included upgrading
and improving the building (including thermal performance) and making it available for hire to
the broader community.
Details of the proposal, including financial implications, environmental improvements,
existing users and new and future users, as set out in the Cabinet report, are to be
considered by Cabinet on 7 October.
Cabinet is recommended to:
RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL
i)

That the Drill Hall is leased to the Horsham Branch, Royal British Legion from
1 April 2022 for a period of up to 30 years.

ii)

To delegate authority to the Director of Place in consultation with Head of Legal &
Democratic to finalise the legal documentation and enter into a lease, subject to
applicable consents, with the Horsham Branch, Royal British Legion for the Drill
Hall.

iii)

To delegate authority to the Director of Place to agree and finalise a schedule of
works with the Horsham Branch, Royal British Legion to improve the Drill Hall.

REASON
The Horsham Branch, Royal British Legion (RBL) have expressed an interest in running
the Drill Hall. This will have the following benefits:
i)

The Drill Hall will continue to be available for community activities and events. The
RBL have also expressed an ambition to grow and develop the role of the Drill
Hall for the community.

ii)

The fabric of the Drill Hall will be improved and become more energy efficient.

iii)

The Council will make an annual revenue saving.

iv)

It will provide a focal point for the Armed Forces in the District.

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
Contents

1.0

Planning Enforcement at Horsham District Council

2.0

South Downs National Park Authority

3.0

What is a breach of planning control

4.0

What is not a breach of planning control

5.0

Key considerations in the investigation of alleged breaches of planning control

6.0

The investigation process

7.0

Formal action

8.0

Prosecution

9.0

Direct action

10.0

Enforcement register

11.0

Publicity and the role of District Councillors and Parish and Neighbourhood Councils in the
Planning Compliance Team process

12.0

Other services provided by the Planning Compliance Team

13.0

Commonly used terms explained

14.0

Other useful links

Page 17

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
1.0

Planning Enforcement at Horsham District Council

1.1

Horsham District Council (‘the Council’) takes a proactive approach in the consideration of planning
enforcement matters and breaches of planning control, and the Council has its own dedicated Planning
Compliance Team (‘the Team’), which sits within the Development Management Department. The Team
investigates alleged breaches of planning control and works to remedy unacceptable unauthorised
development in the Horsham District.

2.0

South Downs National Park Authority

2.1

The Council undertakes planning enforcement (not for minerals and waste development) in the part of
the District which lies within the South Downs National Park on behalf of the South Downs National Park
Authority (‘SDNPA’). For details of the approach to planning enforcement in the National Park please
refer to the SDNPA’s Enforcement Guide: www.southdowns.gov.uk/planning/enforcement/planningenforcement/what-is-planning-enforcement/

3.0

What is considered a Breach of Planning Control?

3.1

A breach of planning control is defined in the Section 55(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as “the carrying out of a development without the required planning permission, or failing to comply with
any condition or limitation subject to which planning permission has been granted”.

3.2

The following list sets out the main scenarios in which a breach of planning may be considered to have
occurred:

Building work, engineering operations and material changes of use that are carried out without first
obtaining planning permission or outside the scope of Permitted Development under the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015;



Development that has been granted planning permission but is not carried out in accordance with the
approved plans;



Failure to comply with conditions or the terms of a legal agreement attached to a permission or consent;



The unauthorised demolition of a building within a conservation area without planning permission, or
which has not had prior approval, if required;



Works carried out to a listed building (both internal as well as external), which affect its historic character
or setting, without listed building consent being granted;



The unauthorised felling or carrying out of works to a tree which is protected by a Tree Preservation
Order; or which is within a Conservation Area; and rural agricultural hedgerows;



The display of a sign or advertisement without first obtaining advertisement consent;



Failure to properly maintain land so that it affects the visual amenity of the area;



Failure to comply with the requirements of enforcement notices, breach of conditions notices and stop
notices.

Page 18

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
4.0

What is not a Breach of Planning Control?


Internal works to a non-listed building;



Matters controlled by other legislation such as Building Regulations/ public nuisance/ Highways/ or the
Environment Agency;



Competition from another business;



On street parking of commercial vehicles in residential areas;



Obstruction of a highway or public right of way (the Police or Highways Authority may be able to get
involved);



Parking a caravan within the residential boundary of a property provided that its use is ancillary to the
dwelling;



Clearing land of overgrowth, bushes and trees (provided they are not subject to a Tree Preservation
Order, within a Conservation Area, or subject to a planning condition, or owned by the council);



Operating a business from home where the residential use remains the primary use;



Boundary disputes – disputes about ownership are a private matter and cannot be controlled under
planning legislation (If the dispute relates to a High Hedge, further information can be found on the
Council’s website using the following link https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/hedges-and-highhedge-disputes );



Loss of value to a neighbouring property;



Where development is Permitted Development;



Deeds and covenants may restrict what you can do with a site. It is therefore advisable to check before
proceeding with any development. However they are a private matter between the signatories to the
documents, and not a matter the Council can enforce.

It should be noted that a breach of planning control becomes immune from enforcement action
if no formal action has been taken within the time limits set out in Section 171B of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). Essentially these are:

Activity

Immune after

Operational development

Substantially completed for 4+ years

Change of use of a building to a single

Continuous occupation for 4+ years

dwelling house

Change of use

Continuous occupation at the same intensity for 10+
years

Breach of a condition on a planning

Continuous non-compliance for 10+ years

Permission

Advertisements

display for 10+ years
Page Continuous
19

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version

It should be noted that the immunity is dependent on various factors and is not automatic.

5.0

Key considerations in the investigation of alleged breaches of planning control

5.1

In the circumstances where an enforcement investigation identifies that unauthorised development has
taken place, the decisive issue for the Council in considering whether it is expedient to continue with the
investigation, is whether the development in question is unacceptable in planning terms such that
planning permission would not be granted, and whether or not it is in the public interest to do so. It is
important to note that the fact that a development does not benefit from the required planning permission
is not in itself sufficient justification for pursuing the matter.

5.2

Where enforcement action is taken, it must be proportionate to and commensurate with the breach of
planning control to which it relates. For example, whilst clearly harmful breaches of planning control
should be addressed by appropriate means, it is not expedient to pursue minor or technical breaches
which cause no planning harm or where unauthorised development is acceptable in planning terms.

5.3

Section 73A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) allows for an application to be
made to the Local Planning Authority where development has already been carried out. This is known
as a retrospective planning application.

6.0

The Investigation Process

6.1

If you are concerned that a development or activity is taking place without planning permission or does
not comply with a planning permission already granted, we would first encourage you to speak to your
neighbour or the owner of the land where appropriate. If you do not wish to do so, or this is not possible
for any other reason, you can report this to the Planning Compliance Team in one of the following ways:


by completing and submitting our on-line complaint form, using the following link:

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/report-an-alleged-planning-breach


or by sending an email to:

planning.compliance@horsham.gov.uk :

6.2

When reporting an alleged breach of planning control, it would be helpful if complainants could provide:


The exact address of the site complained about, as well as the location of the activity/building works
within the site (a sketch plan and/or photographs are often useful);

Page 20

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version


Precise details of the nature of the activity, including the number of vehicular movements/vehicle
registration numbers, opening hours, number and times of deliveries, or what time work commenced (as
appropriate);



Details of the alleged contravener (if known);



Details of the effect that the alleged breach is having upon you in terms of noise, traffic, smells,
overshadowing etc.



6.3

Photographs of the alleged breach can help to speed up and assist investigations.

Before the Council begins an investigation, we will also ask complainants to provide their name and
contact details in confidence so that we can update them on progress (subject to ongoing matters within
the investigation). All complainants’ details are treated confidentially and the Council will always seek to
protect the identity of those making complaints, however in rare circumstances, the Council may be
required to divulge details where an investigation results in enforcement action being taken which is the
subject of an appeal or prosecution. However, we will advise anyone of this before it happens and it is
extremely rare. If you are concerned about providing your details, then try contacting a local residents
group, your Parish Council or your District Councillor, as they may be prepared to make the complaint
on your behalf.

Please note: Whilst we appreciate that for many reasons you may prefer not to give us your details and
remain anonymous, the Council reserves the right not to investigate anonymous complaints, especially
if they are considered to be vexatious or when workloads are high, as we need to ensure that we use
our resources as effectively as possible.

6.4

In many instances the assistance of the general public can be crucial to the success of enforcement
action. For instance, Council officers cannot continually monitor sites. Accordingly, the Council relies
upon the general public, residents associations, Parish Councils and amenity societies to both report
and monitor alleged breaches of planning control.

6.5

Upon receipt of an alleged breach, we will check that the issue in question is a planning matter. If it isn’t,
we will tell you, and where appropriate, forward the concern onto another relevant Council team or
external organisation. At this stage, we may also request further information from you to help with the
investigation, for example keeping a record of activity in respect of the use of land or buildings over an
appropriate period.

6.6

The speed with which an investigation can be undertaken varies between straightforward cases which
can often be concluded quickly, and more complex investigations which can take considerably longer.
Investigating alleged breaches of planning control is often complex and time consuming. In order to make
the most effective use of staff resources, it is necessary to give priority to those cases where the greatest
harm is being caused, as it would be inappropriate to investigate and pursue all allegations with equal
priority and intensity.

Page 21

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
6.7

All investigations are prioritised when by officers when they are first received, in accordance with the
Council’s scheme of prioritisation, which is detailed below.

Priority 1- Immediate investigation (within 24 hours)


Unauthorised works (demolition) with respect to listed buildings;



Unauthorised works to protected trees (TPO’s) or trees in conservation areas;



Removal of landscape features protected by condition;



Certain types of demolition in a Conservation Area;



Unauthorised tipping operations, provided it is connection with operational development;



Any encroachment on to Council-owned land.

Priority 2- Investigation within 15 working days


Certain breaches of conditions attached to a planning permission e.g. wheel washing and materials
(where a building is under construction);



Accesses onto classified roads;



Buildings not constructed in accordance with approved plans;



Certain breaches of conditions of a planning permission e.g. hours of work, parking provision and
access requirements;



Unauthorised erection of buildings or works to land;



Unauthorised changes of use which are considered to be materially harmful to local residents and/or
local amenity;

6.8



Unauthorised residential use of mobile homes/caravans’;



Other changes of use including businesses being operated from residential properties;



Advertisements;



New fences;



Floodlighting and the erection of satellite dishes;



Any other breaches of conditions of a planning permission.

If we are unable to investigate an issue that a complainant has raised, we will tell the complainant the
reason for this. Once an investigation has commenced, and an initial site inspection and assessment
have been made, we will tell the complainant what will happen next. We will confirm whether the
complaint is best dealt with by a different department of the Council or an external organisation.

6.9

Where a complaint is made about any land or buildings, the owner may be contacted about the alleged
breach of planning control by a member of the Planning Compliance Team. Anyone who is the subject
of an investigation is entitled to know what the allegation is (but not who made it) and you will be given
the opportunity to explain your side of the case. We are aware that sometimes people make complaints
due to neighbour disputes, as such we will always seek to work with the parties to understand the true
facts of the case.

Page 22

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
6.10

Initially a member of the Planning Compliance Team will visit the site. Due to time constraints, this is
usually without any prior warning to the owner or any tenants / employees at the site. By virtue of Section
196A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), Planning Compliance Officers have
the right of entry at any reasonable hour to enter any land to ascertain whether there has been a breach
of planning control upon 24 hours’ notice to insist on entry to a residential property. If occupants or
owners are happy to allow us access, then we will usually take up that offer. Where access is refused or
refusal is anticipated, Planning Compliance Officers also have powers to obtain a warrant of entry from
the Magistrates’ Court. In both instances, Planning Compliance Officers may take with them such other
persons as may be necessary. It is a criminal offence to wilfully obstruct a person exercising a right of
entry regardless of whether they are exercising a power of entry with or without a warrant so you should
always seek to work with the Planning Compliance Officer.

6.11

Planning enforcement can be a protracted process for reasons that are often outside of the control of the
Local Planning Authority. In order to manage the expectations of the users of the service, we therefore
also have the following standards/targets with regard the timescales to be taken in the investigation of
the complaint. It should however be noted the following timescales are guides, as there may well be
occasions where this is not possible (for instance in cases where a Planning Contravention Notice is
issued in order to seek additional information, there is a statutory period of 21 days for the Notice to be
completed and returned; or in cases where we have requested monitoring of the site to be undertaken.




Acknowledge complaint within 3 working days of receipt of complaint;



Undertake all site visits within 15 working days;



Close file within 15 working days of initial site visit where there is no breach of planning control identified,
and inform the complainant;



Close file within 15 working days of initial visit where there is a breach of planning control identified, but
it is not expedient to take action, and inform the complainant;



Where a breach of planning control is identified, and formal enforcement action is proposed, the relevant
papers will be provided to the Council’s Head of Legal & Democratic Services within 20 working days of
the decision to take formal action.

6.12


There are a number of potential outcomes of an enforcement investigation, which are principally:-

No further action will be taken in cases where no breach of planning control is identified (i.e. the
reported matter has not occurred, has ceased, or is outside of planning control);



A request that a retrospective planning application is made in cases where a breach of planning
control is identified, however Planning Compliance Officers consider that the unauthorised development
could be made acceptable by the imposition of conditions to address any harm caused (landowners are
legally able to apply retrospectively for planning permission by virtue of section 73A of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 - by taking this approach, the planning merits of the development can be fully
and openly considered. Such applications for retrospective planning permission are considered in the

Page 23

same way as those for proposed development, and the Council may, where it is appropriate and

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
reasonable to do so, suspend any formal enforcement action whilst a retrospective planning application
is being considered. However, where appropriate, the Council will not allow the application process to
unreasonably delay enforcement proceedings);


No further action will be taken in cases where a breach of planning control is identified, but it is minor
and there is no identified planning harm (in these instances, the Council will use its discretion not to take
further action as it would not serve a useful purpose or be a good use of our resources to do so- in such
cases the Council does not consider that it would be expedient to pursue the matter any further.



No further action will be taken in cases where the development is immune from enforcement action
by virtue of time (Breaches of planning control become immune from enforcement action if they have
existed for a certain period of time eg in the case of a material change of use the relevant period is 10
years; and in the case of a building the relevant period is 4 years. Note: There is no period of immunity
for unlawful works to a Listed Building);



A breach of planning control may be identified which is unacceptable in planning terms: when this
occurs, we may offer the party responsible for the breach the opportunity to resolve the matter
voluntarily through negotiation, as opposed to straight to formal action (The Government advice
is that enforcement action should not be used to penalise someone for carrying out development without
first having obtained planning permission. The amount of time it takes to resolve a breach of planning
control very much depends on the severity of the breach combined with the actions and/or reactions of
the land owner(s)/occupier(s). Negotiations can often lead to a quicker resolution and to a better overall
outcome than taking formal action. Where appropriate we will seek to negotiate with the owner/occupier
and will consider options to address the planning harm resulting from the breach. The negotiation
process may involve works being undertaken to remedy breaches of planning control to bring a
development in line with permitted development rights, or involve the submission of a retrospective
planning application.



Formal enforcement action will be taken in cases which cannot be satisfactorily resolved by
negotiation, or the breach of planning control is considered to be so serious or continuing that it merits
immediate action- in such cases the Council will take formal action without offering the offender an
opportunity for the matter to be resolved voluntarily.

7.0 Formal Action

7.1

In considering enforcement action, the Council will have regard to:


Whether the breach of planning control unacceptably harms public amenity, or the existing use of the
land and buildings merits protection in the public interest;



Ensuring any enforcement action is commensurate with the breach of planning control to which it relates;



Enforcement action will not normally be taken to remedy trivial or technical breaches of planning control
which are considered to cause no harm to amenity;

Page 24

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version


Statutory time limits for taking enforcement action;



Relevant planning policies within the Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plan, and the National Planning Policy
Framework, and other material considerations, including where appropriate, the individual circumstances
of the person, business, or other organisation in breach of planning control;

7.2

Enforcement action is discretionary. The Council has discretion as to whether to take enforcement action
and it is not a mandatory duty to do so- i.e. just because something constitutes a breach of planning
control this is not, in itself, a reason to take enforcement action. Even when it is technically possible to
take action the Council is required to decide if such formal action would be “expedient” in the public
interest.

7.3

There needs to be harm actually being caused that is of sufficient detriment to warrant action being
taken. In other words, the Council must consider whether the breach of planning control unacceptably
affects public amenity or safety, or whether the existing use of land or buildings merit protection in the
public interest. As such a judgement has to be made in each case on its own planning merits, as to the
seriousness of the breach and the level of any harm that it causes.

7.4

Apart from some listed building and advertisement cases, it is not a criminal offence to undertake works
without the relevant consents. Whilst the Council will not condone wilful breaches of planning control,
even if it is aware that someone is going to carry out works that require planning permission, it does not
automatically follow that the unauthorised works will be stopped. There would have to be considerable
harm for the Council to seek to stop an unauthorised development taking place. It is recognised that this
can be very frustrating for complainants but the Council must operate proportionately and within the
legislative framework.

7.5

In consideration of the above, formal planning enforcement action may be taken where:-



The matter is so serious that it merits immediate action;



The matter has not been satisfactorily resolved on a voluntary basis.

7.6

The Council has given delegated authority to its officers to exercise the legislative powers available to it
for breaches of planning control. The Council has a wide variety of tools that can be used if the decision
is made to take formal action. These can be viewed at www.gov.uk/guidance/ensuring-effectiveenforcement.

7.7

There is a right of appeal to the Secretary of State against an enforcement notice, a listed building
enforcement notice and an advertisement discontinuance notice within a specified time frame. The notice
itself will inform the recipient whether there is a right of appeal and the time limits. If an appeal is lodged
in time with the Secretary of State, further enforcement action by the Council regarding this notice is
usually suspended until the appeal decision is issued.

Page 25

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
7.8

For information on how to make an appeal against a planning enforcement notice or how to submit
comments on an appeal of an enforcement notice please visit: www.gov.uk/appealenforcement-notice.
There is a right of appeal to the Magistrate’s Court for Section 215 (untidy land) notices issued under the

7.9

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Further enforcement action will be suspended if an appeal is
lodged to the Magistrate’s Court, pending a decision.

7.10

There is no right of appeal for a temporary stop notice, a stop notice or a breach of condition notice.

7.11

Failing to comply with the requirement of a notice served under a relevant provision of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 when the notice takes effect is a criminal offence and can be tried in the
Magistrates’ Court

8.0

Prosecution

8.1

It is a criminal offence to carry out the following works, and the Council can pursue a prosecution against
any person who carries out the following:


Unauthorised works to trees that are protected by a Tree Preservation Order or are within a Conservation
Area;



Unauthorised works to Listed Buildings, and certain unauthorised works of demolition works within
Conservation Areas.



Non-compliance with a temporary stop notice, stop notice, enforcement notice and breach of condition
notice. On conviction, the offender will be liable on conviction in the Magistrates Court to a maximum
fine of £20,000. More serious cases may be heard in the Crown Court, where the level of fine is unlimited.
In addition, the Council will seek to recover the prosecution costs from the offender through a Costs
Order on successful conviction.



The unauthorised display of advertisements- the legislation (Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) Regulations 2007 and the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) which deals with
advertisements is separate from that dealing with general planning matters. The display of an
advertisement without formal consent is an offence, and the council does have the power to prosecute
the person displaying it or a third party’s trade/ business publicised by the advert , if it considered that it
harms the amenity of the area or public safety. There is no need for the Council to serve an enforcement
notice, or similar, to be served. If a person is found guilty of an offence, he or she they could be liable to
a fine up to a maximum of £1,000. (Section 224(b) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 also
includes “the advertisement gives publicity to his goods, trade, business or other concerns.” – that is a
person who has a benefit to the advert.

8.2

Decisions to proceed with legal action will take account of the Code for Crown Prosecutors and in
particular reference will be made to:

The availability of sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction; and

Page 26

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version


8.3

Whether it is in the public interest to proceed with a prosecution
The Council’s officers will always give evidence where possible. However, there will be some cases
where it will be necessary to rely on evidence provided by witnesses from outside the Council. In such
cases the case officer will advise the witness of the possible need to attend Court and to provide a written
witness statement. At this point the name of the witness will unavoidably become public.

8.4

The Council will always look to recover costs from the offender where evidence suggests offenders have
profited from the illegal works, as a deterrent and to remedy the breach.

9.0

Direct Action

9.1

Where an offender fails to comply with the requirements of an Enforcement Notice, the Council may
exercise powers available to it to enter land and carry out such works that are required by the Notice. All
costs incurred by the Council in carrying out such works can be recovered from the landowner, where
costs are not recovered, they can be registered as a charge on the land.

10.0

Enforcement Register

10.1

The Council has a statutory duty to hold and maintain an enforcement register. This records basic
information and details in respect to what notices have been served. The notices contained in the
statutory enforcement register are:

10.2



Enforcement Notices



Listed Building Enforcement Notices



Breach of Condition Notices



Stop & Temporary Stop Notices

The enforcement register is a public record and will show notices served by the Council. This can be
viewed on the Council’s website.

11.0

Publicity and the role of District Councillors and Parish and Neighbourhood Councils in the
Planning Compliance Team process

11.1

In order to raise public awareness of the risks associated with undertaking unauthorised development
and thereby reduce incidences of such development, where appropriate the Council will publicise the
outcome of cases in the local press or other media sources, and will seek to better inform the Public of
what constitutes a breach of planning control, together what works can be undertaken as Permitted
Development without planning permission, in the Council’s Our District magazine, and also by speaking
to the Parish Councils.

Page 27

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
11.2

We recognise that Parish and Neighbourhood Councils, and District Councillors can play an important
role in the provision of the Planning Compliance service, as they have a great deal of local knowledge
and awareness of activities in their area, and as such their assistance in liaising with local residents,
reporting and monitoring enforcement matters is invaluable. As such, lists of new enforcement cases
received will be sent to all Horsham District Councillors and Parish Councils within the District on a
weekly basis. We will seek their views on the delivery of the service and will engage, where appropriate,
on enforcement matters.

11.3

We will notify Parish and Neighbourhood Councils, and the Local Members of formal action taken in the
areas they represent, and where appropriate we will seek their views on the delivery of the service and
will engage, where circumstances permit, on enforcement matters. Again, where appropriate, we will
encourage them to aid in the detection of breaches of planning control as well as contributing to
monitoring developments and the compliance process.

12.0

Other services provided by the Planning Compliance Team

12.1

As well as investigating possible breaches of planning control, the planning compliance service is proactive in:



Ensuring compliance when formal action has been taken;



The monitoring of key planning conditions on larger development sites to ensure that they are being
carried out as required. Further information in relation to the Council’s approach to such monitoring can
be found on the Council’s website;



Monitoring Legal Agreements attached to planning permissions to ensure that they are being carried out
as required;



Ensuring that works subject to Building Regulations that require planning permission benefit from the
necessary application

12.2

The Planning Compliance Team also has two dedicated officers who are responsible for the collection
and spending of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charges that are imposed upon new
developments in the Horsham District. Further details in relation to CIL and the Council’s CIL
Enforcement Policy can be found on the Council’s website using the following link:

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/community-infrastructure-levy/what-is-cil

13.0

Commonly used terms explained

13.1

When dealing with the Planning Compliance Team, we may use words such as those that follow, which
can be explained as follows:



Discretionary- there is no statutory requirement for the Council to take enforcement action against
alleged breaches of planning control. Enforcement action is based on planning merit which requires a

Page 28

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version
planning judgement as to whether or not formal action is appropriate. In some cases, the council may
decide that enforcement action will not be taken and that an alternative approach is more appropriate
(e.g. a retrospective application, further negotiation, no further action etc).


Expedient/Expediency- when assessing whether formal action should be taken, the Council will ensure
that the action is reasonable, proportionate and is in the public interest in order to achieve a satisfactory
result. The Council will consider what the effect of formal action will be and if it will have a meaningful
outcome, and it will not necessarily follow that in cases where a breach of planning control is identified,
that formal action will automatically follow. The term expedient or expediency in planning enforcement
relates to the ‘planning balance’ for taking action, not convenience.



Harm- when considering the expediency and subsequent proportionality of formal enforcement action,
the Council have significant regard to the planning harm associated with a breach of planning control.
Planning harm is the collective term used to describe the negative impacts of a development, and
identified harm will need to be proven before formal action is taken.

14.0

Complaints about the Council’s Planning Enforcement Service

14.1

For those who are unhappy about the level of service received from the Planning Compliance Team,
they should in the first instance discuss those concerns with the Planning Compliance Team Leader. If
this does not resolve the matter, the concerns can be taken further through the Council’s Comments and
complaints procedure, details of which can be found using the following link:

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/contact/comments-and-complaints/complaints-procedure
If the Council’s response is still unsatisfactory, the Local Government Ombudsman can be contacted in

14.2

writing, they will determine if the concerns will be investigated. Please note that the Local Government
Ombudsman will only investigate if the Council’s internal complaints process has been completed, and
will only be concerned that the correct procedures have been followed. The Ombudsman has no power
to reverse the Council’s decision.

15.0

Useful links

15.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) are the basis of the planning process, and provide nearly
all of the enforcement powers available. Further guidance is published by the Department for
Communities and Local Government, which provides information and standards to consider, when
dealing with issues and alleged breach of planning control.


Town

and

Country

Planning

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents

Page 29

Act

1990

(as

amended)

LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN – FINAL revised version


Planning

(Listed

Buildings

and

Conservation

Areas)

Act

1990

(as

amended)

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents


The Planning and Compensation Act 1991
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/34/contents



The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made



Effective Enforcement
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/ensuring-effectiveenforcement/



Adverts
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/advertisments/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/783/contents/made



Lawful Development Certificates (LDC)
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/lawful-developmentcertificates/



Listed Building enforcement and other enforcement
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/conserving-andenhancing-the-historic
environment/further-information-on-heritage-and-planningissues/



South Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA)
https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/planning-applications/enforcement-report-a-breach/

Page 30

Agenda Item 9
COUNCIL
13 OCTOBER 2021
NOTICES OF MOTION

To consider the following Notices of Motion, submitted in accordance with Rule 4a.26 of the
Council’s Constitution:

(a)

Submitted by Councillor Liz Kitchen:

I move that this Council repeats its previous decision to object to the use of the
emergency runway at Gatwick as a second runway, on the grounds of more noise
and pollution not only from the extra flights but added congestion on the already
struggling infrastructure.
Until most aeroplanes are zero carbon, which is many years away, any extra flights
from Gatwick would set back our efforts to reduce carbon emissions, which are
already at exceptionally high levels in some areas of our District. HDC is already
committed to tackling climate change.
Whilst acknowledging the undoubted economic benefits the existing airport brings to
the area and the extra 20,000 jobs it promises, it will cause yet more strain on our
already overstretched housing numbers.
To support the expansion of Gatwick Airport would be a contradiction to the climate
change objectives of this Council.

(b) Submitted by Councillor Mike Croker:

In 2018, at COP24, the UK Government signed up to having ‘domestic institutional
arrangements, public participation and engagement with local communities’ so
localities can play their part in delivering the UKs ‘Nationally Determined
Contributions’ in the Paris Climate Agreement.
In May 2021 Alok Sharma MP, President of COP26 said Collaboration would be a
key objective of the climate summit: "Governments, business and civil society
(sometimes called ‘non-state actors’ and including local government) need to work
together to transform the ways we power our homes and businesses, grow our food,
develop infrastructure and move ourselves and goods around"
Despite these agreements and statements there is still no formal relationship
allowing a joint partnership working between Local and National Government on
climate action.
Continued/…

Page 31

This Council therefore resolves to:
- add our voice in this year of COP26 to calls by the Local Government
Association and the Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning
and Transport & others for a joint local & national government Task Force to plan
action to reach ‘net zero’ emissions. Such a partnership could propose
appropriate regulations, establish benchmarks and targets and propose the
much needed long-term funding mechanisms to enable local communities and
economies to decarbonise whilst remaining resilient and sustainable.
- write to Alok Sharma MP, President for COP26 , the Prime Minister and the
Leadership Board of the LGA informing them of our support for a joint
Local/National Government Climate Change Partnership Taskforce and asking
for one to be established as soon as possible.
(c)

Submitted by Councillor Louise Potter:

We move that this Council wishes to reconsider the latest proposals for the provision
of housing for social rent under Strategic Policy 16 of the new Local Plan.
In its current form, the Policy does not specify any minimum requirement for social
housing. This may result in low or even zero delivery on some sites.
Homes for social rent are the most necessary type of housing for Horsham District.
They will have by far the biggest impact on affordability, which is the only way to
ultimately reduce our excessive housing targets.
We therefore propose that of the affordable housing provided in each new
development, at least 35% should be reserved for social rent.

Page 32

Agenda Item 11a
COUNCIL
13 October 2021
CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS (2) – URGENT ITEM
Recommendation to Council made at the Cabinet meeting held on 7 October 2021

Budget for Consultancy Support for the Gatwick Development Consent Order
The report to Cabinet was considered as an urgent item, in accordance with 4d.4 of
the constitution. Because of the tight timescales and the need to set up this budget
quickly, it had not been possible to consult the Cabinet Member’s Policy Development
Advisory Group.
The consultation by Gatwick Airport Limited on the Gatwick Development Consent
Order to bring the standby runway into routine use began on 9 September and will
finish on 1 December. To obtain the optimal outcomes for the Council’s residents and
business our in-house Strategic Planning service will lack the relevant skills and
knowledge in some specialist areas.
The report to Cabinet recommended setting up a reserve to cover the cost of using
consultants to give the Council the information it needs to respond fully to the
Consultation and make sure the Secretary of State is aware of the impact on our
residents and any necessary mitigations, should he be minded to approve the
Development Consent Order.
Cabinet is recommended to:
RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL
i)

To set up an earmarked reserve of £100,000 for use on consultants for the
Council’s response to the Development Consent Order;

ii)

To delegate to the Director of Place in consultation with the Cabinet Member for
Planning and Development the uses of this budget/reserve.

REASON
i)

A budget is needed to ensure the Council gains the advice it needs to ensure
optimal outcomes for the Development Consent Order.

ii)

The delegation is needed because we do not yet know the full detail of the work
involved and the Consultation process has a tight set legislative timeframe to work
within.

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

